

Swift By-laws June 2024

S.W.I.F.T. SC

Limited Liability Cooperative Company incorporated in Brussels, Belgium on 3 May 1973

Amended by General Meeting

- 1 April 1975
- 13 April 1977
- 12 April 1978
- 9 April 1980
- 11 April 1984
- 10 April 1985
- 9 April 1986
- 10 June 1987
- 14 June 1989
- 12 June 1991
- 9 June 1993
- 12 June 1996
- 10 June 1998
- 9 June 1999
- 13 June 2001
- 11 June 2003
- 9 June 2004
- 11 June 2008
- 10 June 2009
- 14 June 2012 13 June 2013
- 11 June 2020
- 10 June 2021
- 13 June 2024

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 2 of 18

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
1 Name, Registered Office, Object, Cooperative finality, Core Values and Duration	e 3
2 Shares	4
3 Liability	4
4 Admission	4
5 National Member Group	5
6 Shareholding	5
7 Loss of Shareholding Status	7
8 Board of Directors	8
9 Powers	11
10 Management	12
11 Company Representation	12
12 Directors' Remuneration	12
13 Statutory Auditors	13
14 General Meeting	13
14.1 Notification – Meeting 14.2 Quorum and Majority Requirements	13 14
15 Balance Sheet and Allocation of Results	16
16 Winding Up	16
17 Applicable Law and Arbitration	17
18 Internal House Rules	17
19 Provisional transition	17

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 3 of 18

1 Name, Registered Office, Object, Cooperative finality, Core Values and Duration

Article 1

The Company is a limited liability company with the form of a cooperative company (société cooperative). The name of the Company is "Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication". The Company may use the abbreviation S.W.I.F.T. SC, SWIFT, or Swift.

Article 2

The Registered Office of the Company is located at Avenue Adèle 1, B 1310 La Hulpe – in the Walloon Region, Belgium. By decision of the Board of Directors, the Registered Office of the Company may be transferred to another address in Belgium, except if such transfer involves a change in the language of these By-laws pursuant to the applicable language regulations. In such case, the transfer of the Registered Office must be decided by the General Meeting. The Company may establish subsidiaries, branches or agencies in Belgium or in any other nation.

The Company has a website www.swift.com

Article 3

The object of the Company is for the collective benefit of the Shareholders of the Company, the study, creation, utilisation and operation of the means necessary for the telecommunication, transmission and routing of private, confidential and proprietary financial messages.

The Company may take such steps as may be necessary, useful or conducive to its object, including the creation of subsidiaries in Belgium or abroad. The Company may provide data processing products and/or services in relation to its object, subject to approval of the Board of Directors. Moreover, the Company may enter into partnership or any joint arrangement, union of interest or cooperation with any company or firm carrying out or proposing to carry out any activities within the object or similar objects of the Company, even by way of guaranty, subject to approval of the Board of Directors.

Article 4

The cooperative finality ("la finalité coopérative") of SWIFT is to satisfy the needs of its global community of Shareholders who are also its customers by enabling them, as well as its other customers, to communicate securely and in a reliable way through a standardized, unique and secure worldwide global system with a view to develop their economic activities. The cooperative inherently lowers the costs for its users, reduces overall operational risk and allows its users to improve their service to their customer base. It also develops additional services ancillary to its main activities to the benefit of its Shareholders and users, offers training and shares information. Its core values include excellence, community and innovation. The cooperative finality and core values of the Company are further completed and described on its website (www.swift.com/about-us) and Corporate Rules.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 4 of 18

Article 5

The Company is incorporated for an unlimited term.

2 Shares

Article 6

On 1 January 2024, the Company has issued 108.192 shares. The Board of Directors, at each Annual General Meeting, will inform the Shareholders on the new shares issued during the previous financial year; this information will be included in the annual Board report without prejudice to any other obligations under the Companies and Associations Code. Each share gives an equal right in the distribution of profits and the remaining proceeds from liquidation.

The shares do not have to be fully paid-up at their issuance, but need only to be paid at the time and in the amount as determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Article 7

The name and identity details of each Shareholder of the Company and the number of its shares as well as any other details legally required shall be entered in the Share Register of the Company. The Share Register is kept at the Registered Office of the Company. The ownership of the shares shall be established by an entry in the Share Register, an excerpt of which shall qualify as a certificate of shareholding. No other document certifying the ownership of shares is issued by the Company.

The Share Register of the Company shall be kept in electronic form.

3 Liability

Article 8

The liability of the Shareholders towards third parties is limited to their obligation to pay up their shares.

4 Admission

Article 9

Any organisation may be permitted to make use of the services of the Company ("Users"), provided that it complies with the eligibility criteria set forth by the General Meeting of the Company and detailed in a separate document describing SWIFT's main corporate rules and procedures (the "Corporate Rules")

Any organisation, accepted as a SWIFT User, may be considered for admission as a Shareholder of the Company ("Shareholder") which, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, i) is involved in the same type of business as the other Shareholders, and ii) is involved in financial message transmission.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 5 of 18

Following the approval of the Board of Directors, the admission as Shareholder is effective as of its entry in the Company Share Register.

Any organisation which is eligible to become a Shareholder of the Company under the second paragraph but which is subject to obstacles resulting from statutory limitations or regulations preventing such organisation from acquiring shares itself, may propose a related organisation (which holds shares in or whose shares are held by the eligible organisation) for admission as Shareholder, provided that such organisation is eligible to make use of SWIFT services.

The procedures and the Board approval process related to the admission as a Shareholder or as a User are detailed in the SWIFT Corporate Rules.

5 National Member Group

Article 10

The National Member Group consists of the Shareholders within the same nation, acting through a duly authorised representative.

The National Member Group acts as the representative of the local community of Shareholders towards SWIFT. It presents to the Board of Directors, the candidates for directorship proposed by the Shareholders from such nation, in line with the profile defined by the Board.

The National Member Group plays also the role of consultation body and is consulted from time to time by SWIFT on specific topics, including on local practices and regulations.

6 Shareholding

Article 11

Unless otherwise provided herein, the number of shares held by a Shareholder shall be proportional to the annual financial contribution paid to the Company by such Shareholder for the network-based services provided to it by the Company.

In order to comply with the preceding paragraph, the shares shall be (re-)allocated by the Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions set forth below at a minimum every three years. With a view to implementing such (re-)allocation, the Shareholders having to give up shares shall withdraw the number of shares determined by the Board of Directors and the Shareholders having to acquire additional shares shall subscribe to new shares in the number as determined by the Board of Directors. Partial withdrawal of shares shall only be allowed in the context of the share (re-allocation).

- Each organisation admitted as a Shareholder shall initially be allocated one share. To
 this effect, such organisation shall subscribe to such new share at a subscription
 price determined by the Board of Directors and to be paid as consideration for the
 issuance of such share.
- An organisation that complies with the eligibility criteria of a Shareholder may decide
 at the time of application not to acquire any share and not to become a Shareholder.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 6 of 18

Nevertheless, such organisation must participate in subsequent (re-)allocations of shares in view of determining whether it must acquire shares. In that respect, in case the annual financial contribution paid by such organisation for its network-based services gives an entitlement to five or more SWIFT shares at the next share reallocation, the organisation must become a Shareholder and must subscribe to the allocated shares.

- (Re-)allocation of shares shall be determined by the Board of Directors at least every three years.
- Each Shareholder shall be notified of the number of shares (re-)allocated to it in
 writing at least thirty days prior to the relevant Annual General Meeting. This
 notification shall specify the date on which the share re-allocation takes effect ("the
 Share Reallocation Effective Date") and shall be the official evidence of withdrawal of
 or subscription to shares, based on which the Share Register shall be updated.
- A Shareholder having notified its decision to withdraw as a Shareholder may not participate in any subsequent (re-)allocation of shares.
- The annual financial contribution paid to the Company by a "sub-member" (as
 defined here-below) for the network-based services of the Company shall be added
 to the financial contribution of the Shareholder concerned for the purpose of
 calculating the number of shares to be (re-)allocated to such Shareholder.
- If a Shareholder is an organisation as defined under the fourth paragraph of Article 9, its shares shall be (re-)allocated in proportion to the annual financial contribution paid to the Company by the organisation which is eligible.
- Any taxes resulting from the (re-)allocation of shares shall be borne by the Shareholder concerned.
- No Shareholder may own less than one share.
- Both the withdrawal of existing shares and the subscription to new shares following a share re-allocation shall be effective as of the Share Reallocation Effective Date as mentioned in the notification referred to under (d), even though the shares have not been reimbursed to or paid-up yet by the relevant Shareholder.

"Sub-member" means any organisation, that is more than 50 percent directly or 100 percent indirectly owned by a Shareholder and that meets the criteria set forth in the second paragraph of Article 9. A Sub-Member must be under the full management control of the Shareholder.

Notwithstanding the first paragraph of this Article, the principle of proportionality shall temporarily be suspended with respect to any new shares issued between two share reallocations.

Article 12

The Board of Directors or any person appointed by them shall have every power to carry out the formalities relating to the entry of share ownership in the Share Register of the Company in the name of, and on behalf of, the Shareholder without prejudice to the possibility of recording entries in the Share Register by any electronic means as allowed by law.

Article 13

Any withdrawal of existing shares or any subscription to new shares in the context of a share (re-)allocation as set forth in Article 11 shall be effected at the value of the shares

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 7 of 18

as derived by the Board of Directors from the latest financial statements approved by the Annual General Meeting.

Any payment with respect to the (re-)allocation of shares shall be effected through the Company and shall be subject to the net-asset and liquidity test as set forth in Articles 6:115 and 6:116 of the Belgian Companies and Associations Code.

By accepting the monies paid by SWIFT as consideration for the withdrawal of its shares, the resigned or terminated Shareholder irrevocably waives and relinquishes any right to demand in any way a higher amount from SWIFT or its Directors as consideration for such shares irrespective of whether or not the resigned or terminated Shareholder would be entitled to such a higher amount pursuant to any legal provision.

Article 14

Any transfer of shares is null and void except pursuant to a merger, acquisition, restructuring, demerger, split-off, or any other similar legal procedure involving the transferring Shareholder, subject in each case to the transferee meeting the eligibility criteria and conditions for admission as a Shareholder.

Article 15

- The Shareholders agree that, since the Company is a co-operative Company, it
 expects the Shareholders to actively support and contribute to the use of the
 services of the Company.
- The Shareholders also agree that it is their responsibility to see that the Company is
 expended as required, and that its activities are actively monitored and periodically
 reviewed to ensure that the maximum benefit continues to accrue to the combined
 shareholding.
- The Shareholders undertake to satisfy and ensure continued compliance with the eligibility criteria and conditions for admission as set forth in the By-laws and the Corporate Rules.
- The Shareholders undertake to notify the Board of Directors in writing (i) of any change concerning their status in the Company including in respect of their compliance with the eligibility criteria and conditions for admission; and (ii) of their inability to honour their obligations as Shareholders.

7 Loss of Shareholding Status

Article 16

- Shareholding is lost automatically ("de plein droit") if a Shareholder withdraws all its shares (subject to (b) hereafter), is expelled, is deemed to withdraw by law, is declared bankrupt, or goes into liquidation for reasons other than restructuring.
- Any Shareholder may withdraw ("démissionner") from the Company provided that it
 gives notice in writing to the Board of Directors within the first six months of the
 current financial year as defined in Article 39. The resignation of a Shareholder shall
 be effective at the end of that year.
- The Board of Directors may suspend or expel a Shareholder from the Company if it establishes in its opinion that such Shareholder:

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 8 of 18

 does not observe the By-laws of the Company and/or the Corporate Rules or any undertaking towards the Company;

- makes any arrangement or composition with or concerning its creditors;
- is subject to regulations impacting its shareholding in the Company;
- commits an act of negligence which may be prejudicial to the interest of the Company
- provided that the Board of Directors informs the Shareholder in writing of the reasons underlying its decision and that the relevant mandatory provisions under Belgian law are complied with.
- Any Shareholder who is not an active SWIFT User as per the Corporate Rules; or ceases to fulfil any of the other eligibility criteria and conditions for admission set forth in these By-laws and/or Corporate Rules, is presumed to have withdrawn all its shares at such moment by operation of law ("de plein droit").
- In case of loss of shareholding, as mentioned under (a), (b), (c) and (d) above, the shares of the Shareholder concerned shall be repaid by the Company to the Shareholder at the value at the time the withdrawal or loss of shareholding becomes effective and determined as set forth in article 13. Any payment with respect to such withdrawal or loss of shareholding shall be effected by the Company to the Shareholder within 4 months after the withdrawal or loss of shareholding becomes effective.
- In the event of withdrawal, suspension, expulsion or any other loss of shareholding, the Shareholder concerned may not demand the winding up of the Company, nor lay an attachment on the property of the Company nor have the Company's property put under seal.

The procedures related to the loss of shareholding status are further defined by the Board and detailed in the Corporate Rules.

8 Board of Directors

Article 17

The Directors are appointed by the General Meeting for an initial term of maximum three years and may be re-elected for maximum two additional terms, for a total tenure of no more than nine years.

In exceptional circumstances, subject to a justification based upon strict objective criteria (such as ensuring the stability of the Board of Directors or providing needed expertise in an existing initiative), the Board may, by a two-third majority vote, formally approve to propose the General Meeting to extend the term of a Director by one additional year. This extension may be renewed for up to two additional one-year terms, for a maximum total tenure of twelve years and each extension subject to a justification as set out above. The Directors shall hold office until immediately after the Annual General Meeting of the year during which their term expires unless terminated earlier if a share (re)allocation causes the nation or group of nations which proposed the relevant Director(s) for appointment to cease to meet the criteria in a), b) or c) below as applicable at the time of the proposal in which case the Director's mandate shall end at the next Annual General Meeting.

The number of Directors may not exceed twenty-five.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 9 of 18

The Directors are proposed for appointment by the Annual General Meeting in the following manner:

All nations are ranked in decreasing order based on the number of shares in the Company owned by all Shareholders from the same nation.

- All Shareholders from each of the first six ranked nations in terms of number of shares in the Company may collectively propose to the General Meeting two Directors for appointment. In case two or more nations would own an equal number of shares, which would result in an increase of the number of nations above six, the Board shall identify by drawing by lots which nation(s) will qualify under b) below.
- All Shareholders from each of the next ten ranked nations in terms of number of shares in the Company may collectively propose to the General Meeting one Director for appointment. In case two or more nations own an equal number of shares, which would result in an increase of the number of nations above ten, the Board shall identify by drawing by lots which nation(s) will qualify under c) below.
- All Shareholders of a nation which does not qualify under a) or b) above may collectively together with all Shareholders of one or more other nations also not qualifying under a) and b) propose for appointment by the General Meeting one Director provided that no Shareholder may participate in more than one such group of nations at any time. The number of Directors proposed for appointment is limited to three. In case the number of Directors proposed by the groups of nations exceeds three, the Board of Directors shall retain the proposals supported by the largest group of nations in terms of shares represented. In case two or more nations own an equal number of shares, which would result in an increase of the number of such groups of nations, the Board shall identify by drawing by lots the eligible groups of nations.
- Each proposal must be notified, by the National Member Group if any, to the Board of Directors in writing at least forty (40) days prior to the Annual General Meeting.
- In case the appointment of a proposed Director is rejected by the General Meeting, a second General Meeting shall be held within thirty (30) days. At least fourteen (14) days prior to such second General Meeting, a new Director shall be proposed for appointment by the Shareholders of the same nation or group of nations for appointment by the second General Meeting. If such new proposed Director is rejected by the second General Meeting, no Director will be appointed for this office for the entire duration of the three-year term.

All Shareholders from a nation who have not proposed a candidate for a Director, or whose proposal was rejected according to the rules set forth under c), may collectively support the proposal for appointment of a Director who is already proposed by the Shareholders of another nation.

If a Director retires, resigns or is incapacitated in the opinion of the Shareholders who proposed him /her for appointment, or becomes disqualified under the terms of Article 18 or is dismissed or suspended in accordance with Article 19, or his/her position as Director becomes vacant for any other_reason, the Board of Directors may fill the vacated office by appointing a person thereto for the outstanding term. This Director shall be proposed for appointment by the Shareholders of the same nation or group of nations which initially proposed the terminating Director for appointment. The first Annual General Meeting after such appointment as Director must confirm the mandate of the appointed Director ("administrateur coopté"). If the Annual General Meeting confirms the mandate, the new Director will finish the term of the mandate of the previous Director unless the Annual General Meeting decides otherwise. If the Annual

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 10 of 18

General Meeting does not confirm the mandate, the mandate of the new Director will end after such Annual General Meeting without prejudice to the rightful composition of the Board of Directors until that moment.

Article 18

A Director must be an employee of a Shareholder or of an organisation deemed related to a Shareholder by the Board of Directors and comply with the generic and specific profiles as defined and reviewed by the Board of Directors from time to time. Only a physical person may be appointed as a Director.

Article 19

A Director may be dismissed or suspended from his/her office by the General Meeting with a vote of at least seventy five percent (75%) of the shares represented in person or by proxy.

Article 20

The Board of Directors shall appoint a Chair and a Deputy Chair from among its members, for a 1-year mandate. Such Chair and a Deputy Chair may be re-elected for maximum seven additional terms, for a total tenure of no more than eight years.

The Chair and Deputy Chair may be dismissed by a decision of the Board of Directors.

Prior to the appointment of the Chair and Deputy Chair, or in their absence, the most senior Director present in terms of directorship shall fulfil the role of Chair

The Board of Directors shall appoint a Board Secretary who need not be a Director and who shall have the powers set forth in these By-laws and the Corporate Rules as well as any other powers determined by the Board of Directors.

Article 21

The Board acts as a collegial body: resolutions are taken by the Board as a whole and not by its individual members.

The Board of Directors shall meet at least four times annually, and at such other times as notified by the Chair, or requested in writing to the Chair by at least two Directors. In the latter case, the Chair shall send the convening notices for the Board meeting within three business days after such request with the agenda items as requested by the two Directors. The Chair is allowed to add any additional agenda items.

If the Chair is absent or is incapacitated, the Deputy Chair will fulfil his/her role.

The Directors shall be given notice in writing at least fourteen (14) days prior to any meeting. This requirement may be waived in cases of urgency.

A convening notice shall be validly given when sent by mail, courier or by any other electronic means of communication.

Meetings shall be held at the Company's headquarters, or at another place, in Belgium or abroad, as indicated in the notice convening the meeting. Board meetings may also

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 11 of 18

be held by conference call, video conference or any electronic means of communication.

The Board meeting may be held by unanimous written resolution.

Article 22

The quorum necessary for the meetings of the Board of Directors to validly deliberate shall be at least sixty (60) percent of its members in office, of which a quorum of at least fifty (50) percent must be present in person.

Any Director unable to attend a meeting of the Board of Directors may, by means of a proxy transmitted by mail, courier or by any other secure electronic means of communication, appoint another Director to vote on his/her behalf, provided that the Chair of the meeting is informed before the meeting of any such appointment and of the name of the proxy.

No Director may appoint a proxy for more than two consecutive meetings.

Article 23

Each Director has one vote. Each resolution of the Board of Directors is adopted by a simple majority of the votes.

Article 24

Minutes shall be kept of all meetings of the Board of Directors. These minutes shall contain the names of the Directors or their proxy-holder present and all resolutions and proceedings, including the results of voting. Proxies are attached to the minutes. The minutes shall be executed by the Chair, the Board Secretary and any Director who requests to do so. Extracts and copies of minutes are valid when signed by two Directors or the Board Secretary.

9 Powers

Article 25

The Board of Directors has the widest powers with respect to acts of disposition or administration provided that the Board of Directors acts within the framework of the Bylaws.

The Board of Directors shall execute the resolutions of the General Meeting and represent the Company towards Shareholders and third parties.

The Board of Directors may enter into any type of contract, including compositions and Treaties of Arbitration, buy, sell, exchange or rent movable and immovable property, lend or borrow moneys, accept or admit mortgages or other collaterals to the benefit of the Company or of third parties, discharge, renounce any right, privilege, legal proceedings or formalities even without payment or take legal actions as a plaintiff or a defendant.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 12 of 18

The Board of Directors shall, within the limits defined by the General Meeting, define the service usage conditions applicable to each category of Users.

The Board of Directors shall approve the Budget on an annual basis.

The Board of Directors has the power to make any amendment to the Corporate Rules other than amendments relating to matters for which the General Meeting is competent in accordance with these By-laws.

When the Board of Directors has to take a decision or express an opinion on a transaction in which a Director has a direct or indirect interest of patrimonial nature that is contrary to the interests of the Company, the conflict of interest procedure as provided by the law shall be followed.

Article 26

The Board of Directors may establish special committees and may delegate specific powers to one or more special attorneys-in-fact who need not be Directors.

The Company has an audit committee, whose composition and terms of reference are defined by the Board of Directors.

10 Management

Article 27

The Board of Directors may confer the powers of day-to-day management of the Company together with the power to represent the Company for such day-to-day management, upon one or more persons who may but need not be Directors. The person appointed for the day-to-day management may, within the limits of those daily management powers, grant specific authority to one or more persons of his/her choice.

11 Company Representation

Article 28

The Company is validly represented towards third parties by two Directors acting jointly. Within the scope of daily management, any person in whom these powers have been vested also validly represents the Company. Within the scope of their specific powers, the Company is also validly represented by special attorneys.

12 Directors' Remuneration

Article 29

The Company shall not remunerate the members of the Board of Directors. However, the Company shall pay all expenses properly incurred by the Directors for the purpose of attending meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee of the Directors or General Meetings or in connection with the business of the Company.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 13 of 18

13 Statutory Auditors

Article 30

The General Meeting shall appoint one or more statutory auditors from among the members of the Belgian Institute of Certified Auditors (the Belgian Institut des Réviseurs d'Entreprises). Statutory auditors are appointed for a renewable term of three (3) years. The remuneration of the auditors for the duration of the entire mandate is determined by the General Meeting at the time of their appointment.

14 General Meeting

14.1 Notification – Meeting

Article 31

The Annual General Meeting of the Company shall be held on the second Thursday of June at 11.00 AM in La Hulpe (Belgium). If this day is a bank holiday, the meeting shall take place on the following working day and at the same time.

General Meetings may be held by conference call, video conference or by any electronic means as authorised and provided by Belgian law.

Shareholders may participate, deliberate and, subject to the provisions of the second paragraph of Article 36, ask questions remotely by electronic means to the General Meetings, to the extent that it is further defined and technically organised by the Board of Directors in accordance with Belgian law. The Board of Directors shall ensure that, when arranging remote participation in the General Meeting, the Company is able, through the system used, to control the identity and capacity as Shareholder of each person participating.

Article 32

A special or extraordinary meeting shall be called by the Board of Directors when required by the corporate interest of the Company. These General Meetings shall be held at such place as indicated in the notice.

A special or extraordinary General Meeting shall be called by the Board of Directors at the request of at least three Directors or of the Shareholders holding at least ten (10) percent of the shares.

Article 33

At least thirty days' notice shall be given in writing to the Shareholders, specifying the place, day and hour of the General Meeting and its agenda. All supporting documents that need to be put at the disposal of the Shareholders must be provided at least fifteen (15) days prior to the General Meeting. All those documents may be sent by e-mail or be available on the Company website in accordance with the Companies and Associations Code.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 14 of 18

At the request of at least three Shareholders or one Director, one or more items shall be added by the Board of Directors to the agenda of any General Meeting.

Such a request shall be made in writing at the latest twenty-one (21) days before the date of the meeting.

The Board of Directors shall immediately notify all Shareholders of the above.

A notice shall be validly given when sent by mail, courier or made available by any other secure electronic means of communication.

Article 34

In order to be admitted to the General Meeting and to exercise the right to vote, a Shareholder must meet all of the following requirements:

The Shareholder must appoint a duly authorised representative by a valid and duly executed proxy form; if the authorised representative of the Shareholder attends the General Meeting in person, he/she must present an official ID or passport;

The Shareholder must confirm its attendance to SWIFT at least 72 hours in advance, as provided on SWIFT website;

The holder of registered shares must be registered as such in the Share Register of the Company;

The rights attached to the shares of a Shareholder may not be suspended. In case only the right to vote is suspended, the Shareholder is still allowed to attend the General Meeting without being able to vote; and

The Shareholder must be in full compliance with the By-laws and the Corporate Rules.

14.2 Quorum and Majority Requirements

Article 35

A General Meeting shall be deemed to be properly constituted when at least fifty (50) percent of the shares are represented in person or by proxy.

If this quorum is not present in person or by proxy, a second General Meeting shall be called as soon as possible with at least thirty (30) days' notice to the Shareholders, for which meeting no quorum shall be required.

Each share gives right to one vote, and resolutions shall be taken by majority of the votes cast, unless otherwise provided in these By-laws.

However, if Shareholders of a nation present in person and/or represented by proxy hold more than twenty (20) percent of the total shares present or represented at the meeting, the right of such Shareholders to vote shall be limited to twenty (20) percent by reducing the relative votes in proportion to the number of shares of each of the Shareholders concerned. Fractions of votes shall be disregarded.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 15 of 18

Any resolution with respect to the modification of the By-laws, the approval of each category of organisation as User, the criteria of eligibility of Shareholders and Users, the winding up of the Company or its merger with any other Company, shall only be enacted in a General Meeting at which at least seventy-five (75) percent of the total shares are represented, in person or by proxy. Enactment of any such resolution requires at least seventy-five (75) percent of the votes cast.

The object, the cooperative finality or core values of the Company as mentioned in articles 3 and 4 of these By-laws may only be modified by a General Meeting at which at least seventy-five (75) percent of the total shares are represented, in person or by proxy, and with a majority of eighty (80) percent of the votes cast.

If a quorum requirement as set forth above is not met at a General Meeting, a second General Meeting shall be called as soon as possible, with at least thirty (30) days' notice in writing to the Shareholders sent by mail, courier or made available by any other secure means of communication.

The second General Meeting may decide without any quorum. However, the same majority requirement of votes as provided in the preceding paragraphs applies to such second General Meeting.

Article 36

Any Shareholder of the Company may, by means of a proxy transmitted by mail, courier or other secure electronic means of communication, authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any General Meeting of the Company, and the person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise all powers on behalf of the Shareholder whom it represents.

The Board of Directors may, in the notice of the General Meeting, authorise the Shareholders to vote prior to the Shareholders Meeting either electronically or by letter, through a form provided by the Company. In either case, this form will include the date and place of the General Meeting, the name and address of the Shareholder, the number of shares held by the Shareholder and the votes it wants to cast, the agenda items for the meeting, each proposed resolution and the Shareholder's vote in favour, against or abstention on each resolution. This form, duly completed and signed by an authorised representative of the Shareholder, shall be returned to the Company at least seven (7) days prior to the date of the General Meeting, in accordance with the instructions provided in the notice of the General Meeting. A Shareholder participating to the General Meeting in the manner described in this paragraph will be deemed as being present at the General Meeting for the purposes of calculating the quorum and the majority. Any Shareholder has the right to ask questions to the Directors or statutory auditors at the General Meeting or in writing prior to such meeting. Questions must be sent in writing to the Company no later than seven (7) days before the date of the General Meeting to the address mentioned in the convening notice.

Article 37

The Chair or in his/her absence the Deputy Chair of the Board of Directors, or in the absence of both, a Director designated from among the Directors shall chair the General Meeting. The Chair of the General Meeting appoints a secretary and two vote tellers.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 16 of 18

Article 38

The minutes of the General Meeting shall be executed by the Chair, the secretary of the General Meeting and the two vote tellers and any Director who requests to do so and shall be made available to the Shareholders by mail, courier, or any form of electronic communication means. Extracts and copies of minutes are valid when signed by two Directors or by the Board Secretary.

15 Balance Sheet and Allocation of Results

Article 39

The financial year of the Company shall commence on 1 January and end on 31 December.

At the end of each financial year, the Board of Directors draws up the inventory and prepares the annual accounts of the Company and the annual report in accordance with the law. These documents shall be signed by two Directors of the Company and will be made available to the Shareholders together with the report of statutory auditors and any other document required by the law at the latest fifteen (15) days prior to the Annual General Meeting without prejudice to article 33 of these By-laws which provides that the invitation and agenda of the Annual General Meeting must be sent at the latest thirty (30) days prior to the Annual General Meeting.

Article 40

The Annual General Meeting decides on the approval of the annual accounts and the allocation of the financial results.

Following approval of the annual accounts, the Annual General Meeting decides on the release of liability of the statutory auditors and the Directors for the exercise of their mandate for the previous financial year.

16 Winding Up

Article 41

In case of the winding up of the Company, the General Meeting shall determine the method of liquidation, appoint one or more liquidators and determine their powers and remuneration.

If required by the Companies and Associations Code, the appointment of the liquidator(s) shall be approved by the competent Enterprise Court.

After settlement of all debts and charges owed by the Company, any remaining positive balance shall be distributed among the Shareholders in proportion to their shares.

June 2024 Swift By-laws Page: 17 of 18

17 Applicable Law and Arbitration

Article 42

All relations between the Company and each Shareholder shall be governed by Belgian Law.

Any dispute arising in connection with these By-laws, failing amicable settlement shall be finally settled under the rules of conciliation and arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce by one or more arbitrators appointed in accordance with these rules.

Such proceedings shall be conducted in Brussels and in the English language.

Article 43

The provisions of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations which are not validly set aside are deemed to be included in the current By-laws and the provisions of the current By-laws which are contrary to mandatory provisions of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations are deemed not to be written.

18 Internal House Rules

Article 44

The Board of Directors is authorised to issue, amend or cancel Internal House Rules without prejudice to Article 25. Such Internal House Rules may also be referred to as the SWIFT Corporate Rules. The latest version approved by the Board of Directors is with effective date 7 December 2023.

19 Provisional transition

Article 45

The first two paragraphs of Article 17 shall only come into effect as of the AGM 2026.

Page: 18 of 18



About Swift

Swift is a global member-owned cooperative and the world's leading provider of secure financial messaging services. We provide our community with a platform for messaging, standards for communicating and we offer products and services to facilitate access and integration; identification, analysis and financial crime compliance. Our messaging platform, products and services connect more than 11,000 banking and securities organisations, market infrastructures and corporate customers in more than 200 countries and territories, enabling them to communicate securely and exchange standardised financial messages in areliable way.

As their trusted provider, we facilitate global and local financial flows, support trade and commerce all around the world; we relentlessly pursue operational excellence and continually seek ways to lower costs, reduce risks and eliminate operational inefficiencies. Headquartered in Belgium, Swift's international governance and oversight reinforces the neutral, global character of its cooperative structure. Swift's global office network ensures an active presence in all the major financial centres.